ASSIGNMENTS OF ERROR 


1. 	 The trial court erred in denying petitioner's motion for judgment as a matter of law on 

respondents' deliberate intent claim. 

2. 	 The trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury that Respondent could not maintain a 

deliberate intent cause of action if he created the unsafe working condition by not 

following expected safety procedures or by acting in an unforeseen manner. 

3. 	 The trial court erred in permitting Respondents' economics expert to testify as to future 

lost earnings capacity. 

4. 	 The trial court erred in refusing to reduce the jury's award of damages to comport with 

the evidence at trial. 

5. 	 The trial court erred in refusing to grant FirstEnergy a new trial under Rule 59(a) of the 

West Virginia Rules of Civil Procedure. 
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STATEMENT OF THE CASE 


This case stems from an adverse judgment in a deliberate intent cause of action arising 

out of a workplace accident at the Harrison Power Station on January 22, 2013. Respondents, 

James and Carol Muto, brought an action against FirstEnergy Generation, LLC ("FirstEnergy") 

in which they alleged that FirstEnergy deliberately exposed Mr. Muto to two specific unsafe 

working conditions: (1) open floor grating in an elevated platfonn which was improperly 

barricaded by yellow, as opposed to red, caution tape; and (2) nearly zero-visibility dusting 

conditions which precluded Mr. Muto from seeing the open floor grating after he crawled under 

the barricade. Mr. Muto fell through the open grating, sustaining injuries. The case was tried to 

the jury, whereupon a verdict was returned in favor of Respondents. The jury's total award was 

One Million Two Hundred Twenty Thousand Dollars ($1,220,000.00), which was reduced to 

One Million One Hundred Forty Two Thousand Dollars ($1,142,614.00) to account for the 

workers' compensation offset. FirstEnergy timely filed post-trial motions, which the trial court 

denied by order entered on December 27,2016. 

On the morning of the accident, maintenance supervisor John Rapp assigned a work crew 

to replace rotary feeder #1A, which is located in the flyash silo in the solid waste processing 

building on the grounds of the Harrison Power Station. The solid waste processing building 

contains six floors, with the entrance to the flyash silo located on the fifth floor. Rotary feeder 

#1A is located on the second level of an elevated platfonn inside the flyash silo. (A.R. 1690

93. 1) To replace a rotary feeder, one must first remove the old rotary feeder from its housing, 

attach it to a chain, and then lower it to the silo floor through openings in both the first and 

1 These photographs show the platform, which has two levels. The feeder is housed on the top 
level. 

2 

4842-8997-2038.v3 

http:4842-8997-2038.v3
http:1,142,614.00
http:1,220,000.00


second levels of the elevated platfonn. (A.R. 1688-89.2) The replacement feeder is then raised 

from the silo floor to the top of the platfonn through the same two openings, where it is installed 

in its housing. (A.R. 968; 1674; 1680;3 1675.4) 

The work crew assigned to this task consisted of Tom Hamilton, John Burton, Bob 

Bartlett, and John Graziani. This was an experienced crew, with both Mr. Bartlett and Mr. 

Burton each having more than 30 years of experience at the Harrison Power Station. (A.R. 

967:9-18.) Mr. Rapp provided a pre-job briefing to the crew that morning in which he discussed 

the procedures involved in replacing the rotary feeder and safety precautions to be undertaken 

during the job. Because part of the job required the crew to remove the floor gratings on the first 

and second levels of the platfonn for a short duration, the crew spoke about installing barricades 

for those periods of time during which the gratings were removed. (A.R. 1166:4-5.) In addition 

to caution tape, Mr. Rapp instructed the crew to erect a cable barricade to block anyone from 

accessing either the first or second levels of the platfonn when the gratings were removed. (A.R. 

1168:23-69:8.) Mr. Rapp required that anyone working around the open grating on the second 

level of the platfonn wear fall protection. (A.R. 1166:11-14; 1170:8-18.) Finally, Mr. Rapp 

made clear that at no point should the maintenance crew leave the flyash silo without first 

replacing the two floor gratings. rd. 

Following the pre-job briefing, the maintenance crew proceeded towards the flyash silo. 

Before starting work, the crew went to a maintenance parts storeroom and selected a steel cable 

with a come-along attached to use as the barricade, as well as yellow caution tape that read, "Do 

2 These photographs show the feeder itself, after having been removed. 
3 These photographs show the open grating. The cylinder above and to the right of the opening is 

the feeder's housing unit. The chains are used to raise and lower the feeder through the opening. 
4 This photograph shows the view looking through the openings in the two levels to the platform 

floor. 
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Not Enter." (A.R. 1169:20-1170:4.) The maintenance crew believed the cable come-along and 

yellow caution tape were sufficient for the job they were to perform. (A.R. 1170:5-7.) The 

maintenance crew then removed the old flyash rotary feeder from its housing, placed it on the 

steel grating adjacent to its housing, and left the silo for a mid-morning break. (A.R. 1172:5-8.) 

The crew did not erect a barricade prior to taking their break because they had not yet removed 

either of the floor gratings. (A.R. 1172:16-17; 1173:20-23.) The dust conditions inside the silo 

prior to the crew's break were not noticeable. (A.R. 1172:9-12.) 

Upon returning from break, Mr. Hamilton, Mr. Bartlett, and Mr. Mr. Burton5 secured the 

steel cable barricades across the only access points to both the first and second levels of the 

elevated platform. (A.R. 1173:20-23.) The crew further wrapped yellow caution tape reading 

"Caution Do Not Enter" around both barricades. (A.R. 1669, 1679;6 1672;7 1681;8 1682;9 1683

84.1°) As the dusting had become more noticeable during the crew's break, Mr. Hamilton called 

control room operator Seth James from a page phone inside the silo to inform him that the dust 

was increasing and to ask if it was possible to shut the flyash "train" down. I I (A.R. 1176:22-24.) 

Mr. James advised Mr. Hamilton that he would look into the request and get back with him. 

(A.R. 1176:1-2.) As the maintenance crew was lowering the rotary feeder through the two open 

gratings, Mr. Bartlett answered the return call from Mr. James. Mr. Bartlett relayed to the other 

5 John Graziani was only scheduled for a half-day of work on the day of Mr. Muto's accident and 
did not return to the flyash silo after the mid-morning break. CA.R. 665:13-21.) 

6 These photographs show the cable come-along that stretched across the top of the staircase 
leading to the top level ofthe platfoffil. The yellow caution tape is wrapped around the cable. 

7 A close-up view of the cable come-along. 
8 The same come-along, from the reverse side. 
9 This photograph shows a similar barricade blocking the entrance to the first level of the 

platform. 
10 These photographs show the staircase leading to the top level of the platform. 
11 The ''train'' is the term used for the series of equipment that transports flyash through the 

processing unit in the flyash silo. 
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crew members that the control room wanted to know how long the crew needed the train to be 

shut down. (A.R. 1178:13-15.) Mr. Bartlett also infonned the other crew members that the 

control room was sending someone to adjust the dust collectors on the pug mill floor to see if 

that would alleviate the dusting. Id. The pug mill floor is located one level below the flyash silo. 

(A.R.1521:2-22:1.) 

After Mr. Bartlett ended the call, the crew lowered the rotary feeder onto the ground floor 

of the flyash silo, at which time the dusting increased to the point that it created a nearly zero

visibility condition inside the silo. (A.R. 617:15-17.) The maintenance crew decided to evacuate 

the silo. (A.R. 1179:4-7.) When the crew left the silo, however, they did not replace the gratings 

on either the first or second levels of the elevated platfonn. (A.R. 1180:1-5.) Mr. Hamilton 

testified the crew did not believe it was safe to replace the gratings given the dust conditions 

inside the silo. (A.R. 1180:7-8.) Importantly, the maintenance crew did not tell anyone that the 

dusting conditions had worsened or that they had evacuated the silo. Moreover, despite Mr. 

Rapp's instructions earlier that morning, the maintenance crew did not notify anyone that they 

had left the gratings open upon leaving the silo. (A.R. 1182:21-83:1.) Mr. Hamilton testified that 

the crew members did not believe anyone was going to enter the flyash silo and that if someone 

did, the barricade they had erected was sufficient to prevent that person from accessing the 

elevated platfonns and exposing themselves to the open grating. (A.R. 641:21-42: 1 0; 1181 :20

24.) Furthennore, the maintenance crew did not believe anyone would attempt to crawl under the 

barricade given the nearly zero-visibility conditions that existed inside the silo at that time. (A.R. 

642:11-22; 1183:9-18.) Thus, without telling anyone, the crew left the silo and waited on an 

adjacent catwalk to see if the adjustments that were being made to the pug mill dust collectors 

alleviated the dusting inside the silo. (A.R. 1180:15-20.) 
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Meanwhile, in a different area of the facility, a crew of four men, known as the S02 

team, was in charge of manning the control room: James Muto, Seth James, Tim Eakle, and their 

supervisor Jim Harley. The control room is located three floors below the flyash silo in the solid 

waste processing building. The control room contains several computer screens which monitor 

certain process equipment in the solid waste processing building, including the rotary feeders in 

the flyash silo. (A.R. 1559:17--61 :5.) When Mr. Hamilton first contacted control room operator 

Seth James, Mr. James radioed his supervisor, Mr. Harley, and advised him that the maintenance 

crew wanted the train shut down because of a dusting problem inside the silo. (A.R. 1567:21

68:10; 1628:23-29:2.) Mr. Harley asked how long the train would need to be shut down, and the 

two discussed whether anything else could be done to alleviate the dusting problem, most 

notably, adjusting the water levels in the pug mill dust collector. (A.R. 1628:23-29:2; 1575:16

76:1.) The pug mill dust collector is part of the flyash train, and water levels inside the dust 

collector can affect the amotmt of flyash dust that is distributed through the system. (A.R. 

1635:12-36:1.) 

Following the initial conversation between Mr. James and Mr. Harley, the testimony 

differed as to whether Mr. Harley physically came into the control room or whether he continued 

to communicate with Mr. James by radio. 12 Regardless, it was undisputed that Mr. Muto and Mr. 

Eakle were present in the control room with Mr. James when the maintenance crew reported the 

dusting conditions, and it was undisputed that Mr. James and Mr. Harley had a follow-up 

12 Mr. James testified that within ten minutes of the call to his office, Mr. Harley came into the 
control room. (AR. 1574:15-18.) Mr. Muto testified that Mr. Harley was not in the control room. (AR. 
1518:20.) Mr. Eakle did not remember Mr. Harley being present in the control room, but he admitted that 
a statement he gave shortly after the accident indicated that Mr. Hadey was in the control room. (AR. 
1657:7-10; 1662:5-12.) Mr. Harley testified that he did not remember whether he went to the control 
room or continued to communicate with Mr. James by radio, but he admitted that he may have gone to the 
control room. (AR. 1632: 17-20.) 
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conversation where they again discussed adjusting the water levels in the pug mill dust 

collectors. Mr. James advised Mr. Harley that he did not believe adjusting the water levels in the 

dust collectors would minimize dusting inside the flyash silo, but Mr. Harley still wanted to try. 

(A.R. 1575:19-76:4; 1577:6-11.) Whether it was over the radio or in person, the only directive 

that Mr. Harley gave after learning of the dusting condition inside the flyash silo was to adjust 

the water levels in the pug mill dust collector. (A.R. 875:4-12; 880: 1 0-81 :2; 881 :22-26; 1601:4

6.) Importantly, no one, including Mr. Harley and Mr. Muto, recalled any conversations between 

Mr. Harley and Mr. Muto after the maintenance crew reported a dusting condition inside the silo. 

(A.R. 1577:17-18; 1517:17-21; 1519:6-12; 1665:22-66: 14; 1632:11-16.) 

After the follow-up conversation between Mr. James and Mr. Harley, Mr. Muto relieved 

Mr. Eakle as "equipment watch" so that Mr. Eakle could attend a meeting.,,13 (A.R. 1443:15-22.) 

Mr. Eakle told Mr. Muto that he had made a couple of rounds through the flyash silo earlier that 

morning and saw nothing out of the ordinary. (A.R. 1444:22-23.) Mr. Muto then took the 

elevator to the pug mill floor, and Mr. Eakle left for his meeting. At no point was anyone in the 

control room informed that the dusting conditions inside the silo had worsened, that the 

maintenance crew had evacuated the silo, or that the crew had left the silo without first replacing 

the gratings. (A.R. 893:6-11; 914:5-10; 1610:18-11:7; 1637:18-22; 1662:18-21; 1663:2-5.) 

Moreover, Mr. Eakle testified that he did not sense any urgency when the maintenance crew 

reported the dusting condition and requested that the train be shut down. (A.R. 1660:23-61:1.) 

And no one in the control room believed Mr. Muto was undertaking anything unsafe when he 

left the control room and went upstairs. (A.R. 1600:7-9; 1661 :14-62:1.) 

13 Equipment watch is the position within the S02 group responsible for visually inspecting 
equipment in the solid waste processing building, checking oil levels in the equipment, and ensuring that 
the equipment is operating properly. (A.R. 1437:9-38:11.) 
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Mr. Muto left the control room and took the elevator to the fifth floor. (A.R. 1521:2

22:1.) He walked down a flight of stairs to the pug mill floor, where he saw nothing unusual. Id. 

He then walked through the pug mill floor, climbed a flight of stairs, and approached the door to 

the flyash silo. Id. Mr. Muto, who was able to see inside the silo through a window in the door, 

described the conditions inside the silo as near zero visibility. (A.R. 1522:15-23:4; 1528:3-10.) 

Mr. Muto also noticed that the maintenance crew was no longer working inside the silo. (A.R. 

1526:16-23.) Mr. Muto did not notify anyone of the conditions that he observed inside the silo, 

even though those conditions were different than what he had expected to see. (A.R. 1522:15

23:4.) Despite carrying a radio, Mr. Muto never contacted Mr. Harley about the conditions he 

encountered because he assumed that his supervisor would have told him to locate the source of 

the dusting. Id. Mr. Muto admits that no supervisor instructed him to enter the silo, much less to 

enter the silo in the conditions which he observed through the silo door. (A.R. 1524:2-25:19.) 

After Mr. Muto entered the silo, he preceded towards the rotary feeder platform stairs. He 

described the visibility at the bottom of the staircase as less than an arm's length away, and he 

admitted that the visibility became worse as he climbed the staircase to the point where he could 

no longer see. (A.R. 1528:3-21.) When Mr. Muto reached the second level of the platform, he 

encountered a steel cable barricade wrapped in yellow caution tape reading, "Caution Do Not 

Enter." (A.R. 1669-70; 1672; 1678-79.) The barricade was fixed across the only entrance point 

to the upper level of the rotary feeder platform and was attached to a come-along. (A.R. 

1531:12-16.) Despite having near-zero visibility, Mr. Muto ducked under the barricade. (A.R. 

1533:1-3.) Mr. Muto admits that he neither notified anyone that he intended to crawl under the 

barricade nor contacted anyone to find out why the barricade was in place. (A.R. 1533:4-16.) 

Mr. Muto, who had no idea the barricade was in place until he encountered it on the second 
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level, testified that he "assumed" the barricade was erected because of the dusty conditions 

inside the silo. Id. As Mr. Muto ducked under the barricade and walked towards the rotary 

feeder's housing, he fell through both open gratings. (A.R. 1446:1~7:13.) Mr. Muto admits 

that no one asked him to inspect the flyash rotary feeder that morning and that he made the 

decision to do so himself. (A.R. 1520:6-23.) 

At trial, Mr. Muto admitted that he carried the FirstEnergy Personal Safety Manual and 

Human Performance Handbook ("Safety Manual") on his person at all times while at work, 

including at the time of the accident. (A.R. 1516:5-17:1.) Mr. Muto further admitted that he was 

familiar with FirstEnergy's policies concerning barricading, barriers, and signs. (A.R. 1538:16

39:9.) Section 301.2 of the Safety Manual states: "Any personnel required to enter an area 

protected by a barricade, rope or railing shall know the hazard for which the barricade is 

intended." (A.R. 1706.) The Safety Manual further prohibited employees from stepping over or 

under barricades. Also, while FirstEnergy policies and OSHA regulations required that red 

danger tape be used to warn people of hazards such as open gratings,14 those same policies and 

regulations allowed persons to cross yellow caution tape only after confirming the purpose for 

which the tape was placed. (A.R. 1708.) Finally, the Safety Manual advised employees that when 

they confront areas of confusion to take time and resolve the issues, stating, "STOP When 

Unsure: 1. STOP the Activity. 2. Place the equipment in a safe condition. 3. Notify Supervision. 

14 Provided that individuals were present to guard the opening and warn individuals of the hazard, 
neither FirstEnergy policies nor OSHA regulations required any physical barricade to be erected. (A.R. 
856:22-57:2; 890:18-91:2.) Thus, when the maintenance crew was working inside the silo, the barricade 
with yellow caution tape actually exceeded FirstEnergy policies and OSHA regulations. Once the 
maintenance crew left the silo without replacing the floor gratings, however, both FirstEnergy policies 
and OSHA regulations required that red danger tape be used to warn of the hazard. (A.R. 855:14-22; 
1707.) 
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4. Get help to resolve questions and concerns. Never proceed in the face of uncertainty." (A.R. 

1543:16--44:1, 1825.) 

Mr. Muto admitted he did not know why the steel cable barricade was erected when he 

crawled under it. (A.R. 1535:12-15.) He also conceded that he ducked under the barricade even 

though FirstEnergy's policies prohibited doing so. (A.R. 1540:12-17.) Despite knowing that 

FirstEnergy's policies forbid him from crossing the barricade and yellow caution tape without 

first identifying the hazard being warned against, Mr. Muto testified that his decision to duck 

under the barricade and caution tape was nonetheless reasonable, since he assumed that the 

barricade was erected to protect against nothing more than the dust. (A.R. 1533: 1 0-16.) 

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT 

The trial court erred in denying FirstEnergy's motion for judgment as a matter of law as 

to Respondents' deliberate intent claim because there was no evidence at trial establishing that 

FirstEnergy had actual knowledge of the specific unsafe conditions which proximately caused 

Mr. Muto's injuries, much less that anyone in management actually intended to expose Mr. Muto 

to those unsafe conditions. Respondents alleged that FirstEnergy intentionally exposed him to 

two specific unsafe conditions: (1) an open floor grate beside the rotary flyash feeder housing 

which was improperly barricaded; and (2) excessive dusting inside the flyash silo which created 

nearly zero-visibility conditions and prevented him from seeing the open floor grate after he 

crawled under the barricade. 

Mr. Muto admitted at trial that no one in management instructed him to go inside the silo, 

nor was he actually asked to inspect the rotary flyash feeder on the elevated platform-he chose 

to inspect the rotary flyash feeder himself. In fact, the only directive that Mr. Muto's supervisor 

gave that morning was to check the water levels on the pug mill dust collectors, which are one 

floor below the flyash silo. One has to physically walk through the pug mill dust collector floor, 
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up a flight of stairs, through a metal door, and up two additional flights of stairs to reach the 

elevated platform through which Mr. Muto fell. 

Additionally, not a single witness testified that anyone at FirstEnergy had any knowledge 

that Mr. Muto was going to inspect the rotary flyash feeder on the elevated platform. Nor did any 

witness testify that anyone in management at FirstEnergy had actual knowledge of the nearly 

zero-visibility conditions inside the silo or that the maintenance crew working inside the silo 

failed to replace the floor gratings on the rotary feeder platform before leaving the silo. Likewise, 

there was no evidence at trial that would even remotely suggest that anyone at FirstEnergy

much less anyone in management-actually intended for Plaintiff to walk through nearly zero

visibility conditions, crawl under a steel cable barricade warning "Caution Do Not Enter," and

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