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

Barefootv. Sundale Nursing Home, 193 W.Va. 475, 457 S.E.2d 152 (1995). 

The formulation ofjury instructions is within the broad discretion ofa circuit court, 
and a circuit court's giving ofan instruction is reviewed under an abuse ofdiscretion 
standard. A verdict should not be disturbed based on the formulation of the 
language of the jury instructions so long as the instructions given as a whole are 
accurate and fair to both parties. 

Rundle v. Keane, 209 W. Va. 264, 265, 546 S.E.2d 263, 264 (1999), citing syllabus point 6, 

Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, Inc., 194 W. Va. 97, 459 S.E.2d 374 (1995). 
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Petitioner challenges a jury instruction not given and an instruction that was given, potentially 

governed by two separate standards of review. This Court has previously explained that when a 

challenge to jury instructions is made "[t]he basis of the objection determines the appropriate 

standard of review." State v. Guthrie, 194 W. Va. 657, 671, 461 S.E.2d 163, 177 (1995). This 

Court has also noted that "[g]enerally, we review a trial court's refusal to give or the actual giving 

of a certain instruction under an abuse of discretion standard. Where, however, the question is 

whether the jury instructions failed to state the proper legal standard, this Court's review is 

plenary." Id, at 687, fn. 12. Respondents contend that an abuse of discretion standard is the 

appropriate standard of review because there is not an issue with the proper legal standard. 

B. 	 The Court Was Correct to Not Give an Instruction Related to Muto "Creating" 
the Hazard Because It Was Not Supported by the Evidence 

Petitioner's contention that the jury instructions were an incorrect statement of the law is 

meritless as the trial record confirms Muto did not "create" any hazardous condition through a 

failure to adhere to safety protocol. Petitioner argues that Muto "created" the unsafe working 

condition and therefore a deliberate intent action cannot be maintained. Petitioner cites to Mumaw 

v. US. Silica Co., 204 W. Va. 6, 12,511 S.E.2d 117, 123 (1998) and Blevins v. Beckley Magnetite, 

Inc., 185 W. Va. 633, 639,408 S.E.2d 385,391 (1991) in support ofthis position. See, Petitioner's 

Brief, at 27. These cases are factually distinguishable from the evidence at trial. 

In Mumaw, the decedent worker was told three separate times to close a trap door that the 

decedent ultimately fell through, leading to his death. Mumaw, 204 W. Va. at 12, 511 S.E.2d at 

123. This Court also noted, in an opinion upholding the grant summary judgment, that there was 

no evidence that the employer created the hazardous condition. Id The evidence at trial confirmed 

that Muto did not create the dusting hazard or leave the grate open when the work crew vacated 

the silo due to the dusting conditions. This Honorable Court should remain mindful that Harley 

had the affirmative duty and obligation to reevaluate the changed conditions in the silo under a 

worst-case scenario standard before allowing Muto to investigate the dusting inside the fly ash 
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silo, but failed to meet this standard. Nothing Muto could have done would have eliminated the 

two hazardous conditions, which clearly differentiates this case from Mumaw. 

In Blevins, this Court noted that an unsafe working condition was only created when the 

injured employee entered a fenced-in area near a running piece ofequipment. Blevins, at 639, 408 

S.E.2d 391. The employee had previously been instructed to not enter the fenced-in area unless 

the equipment was turned off. Id. Here, the hazardous condition was the creation of the dusting 

in the silo and the removal of grate without proper guards. Pursuant to his job responsibilities, 

Muto was tasked with checking out the cause of the dusting condition, necessitating that he enter 

the silo. These conditions were the proximate cause of the incident. This was not the factual 

predicate presented to this Court in Blevins. 

On page 28 of its Brief, Petitioner asserts that "Mr. Muto only encountered the unsafe 

condition-the open gratings-when he failed to comply with [Petitioner] safety policies and ducked 

under the steel cable barricade and yellow caution tape that stated, "Do Not Enter." First, there 

were two unsafe working conditions, only one of which was discussed by Petitioner. The circuit 

court found that Rapp testified that there should have been a sign on the yellow caution tape 

indicating ''the hazard for which the barricade is intended" and there should have been red danger 

tape put up when the crew evacuated the silo. App., 939:10-13; p. 942:16:24; 1916, , 72 (Order). 

While the open grating was certainly an OSHA violation and unsafe working condition, all of the 

trial witnesses confirmed the dusting was an independent hazardous condition. Petitioner also asks 

the impossible ofMuto - to know that the grating had been removed while immersed in thick dust 

that impaired his vision. See, Petitioner's Brief, at p. 29. Muto could not have known that the 

grating had been removed, nor could he have anticipated that the grating would be removed prior 

to his entry into the silo. Muto testified at trial that he believed the cable come along and yellow 

tape were present because of the dusting condition. App., 1553:4-16. To impose on Muto the 

requirement to correctly predict every hazard that he could encounter, or even anticipate that there 
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were other hazards other than the severe dusting in the silo - and then attempt to blame him for it 

while absolving Petitioner's supervisor who failed to alleviate the condition is not what Mumaw, 

or its progeny, stands for. 

Petitioner also argues that Muto violated the handbook by "stepping over or under a 

barricade." Petitioner's Brief, at p. 29, citing App. 1706, section 301.2. The manual goes on to 

state: "When barricading an area, always provide designated entry/exit points. Never step over or 

duck under barriers." Id There were no entry or exit points, consequently, the "barricade" 

consisting of a come along and yellow tape did not even meet Petitioner's own requirements, 

forcing Muto to navigate non-compliant barriers with no knowledge of the hole in the grating 

before him with no visibility. App., 1679; 1681; 1682.14 

Petitioner cites to Section 301.8 related yellow caution tape and its meaning. Petitioner's 

Brief, at pp. 28-29. Petitioner omits critical information that the handbook states yellow caution 

tape is only to be used in "minor hazard situations where a non-immediate or potential hazard or 

unsafe practices presents a lesser threat or employee injury." App., 1708, citing section 301.8. In 

situations such as the one Muto encountered, Petitioner's employees were required to utilize red 

tape. Petitioner's safety manual states: "RED - DANGER signs shall be used in major hazard 

situations, where an immediate threat of death or serious injury exists. Danger barriers shall not 

be crossed by unauthorized employees." App., 1707, citing section 301. 7 (emphasis added). There 

is no similar prohibition against crossing a barrier that utilized yellow tape. Muto unequivocally 

testified that he would not have crossed any red tape because it would have signified an extreme 

hazard on the other side. App., 1532:9-12. Muto entered the silo and encountered yellow tape that 

indicated a "minor hazard situation." The only logical conclusion for Muto to make (absent 

omniscience) would have been that the dusting was the hazard addressed by the yellow tape. It 

14 The photographs contained at App., 1686 and 1687 depict the metal pipe that was apparently bent by 
Muto's body as he fell approximately fourteen feet towards the concrete floor below. 
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is also reasonable that Muto would have been entitled to cross the barrier, whether yellow or red, 

as he was authorized by his employer to go into the fly ash silo to investigate the dusting condition. 

Petitioner's safety manual also required that "signs shall be posted to briefly identify the 

hazard present ... when barricadeslbarriers are established, informational signs shaD be posted." 

App., 1707, citing section 301.5 (emphasis added). There were no signs erected in the silo, let 

alone a sign that described the life-threatening fall that Muto encountered. As previously noted, 

Petitioner's expert liability witness, Bizzak, confirmed that red tape and a sign describing the 

danger should have been utilized in this situation. App., 867:2-8. This testimony was not 

challenged or rebutted during trial. 

Petitioner's Brief ignored citing or quoting the proposed language of the jury instructions 

it would have liked the Circuit Court to have given to the jury. For this reason alone, this Court 

should disregard Petitioner's argument. ("Once again, we emphasize that '[a] skeletal argument, 

really nothing more than an assertion, does not preserve a claim .... Judges are not like pigs, hunting 

for truffles buried in briefs." Sergent v. City o/Charleston, 209 W. Va. 437,440,549 S.E.2d 311, 

314 (2001). Petitioner also failed to acknowledge the full scope of the safety manual its employees 

utilized and the evidence that the jury and Court heard during trial. The failure to utilize red 

caution tape and post signage was a clear violation of the safety manual, which would have 

signaled to Muto to not enter the area where the grate was removed. Additionally, Muto did not 

create the dusting condition or remove the grate. The instructions presented to the jury were 

premised on a correct statement ofthe law based on the evidence presented during trial- Muto did 

not create the hazardous condition. 

C. 	 The Instruction Provided to the Jury About Muto's Conduct Was a Correct 
Statement ofthe Law 

Petitioner's argument that the analysis in Master Mechanical Insulation, Inc. v. Simmons, 

232 W. Va. 581, 753 S.E.2d 79 (2013) should have precluded the circuit court's instruction 

concerning Muto's conduct is without merit. This Court has been clear that, "[w]hen an employee 
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asserts a deliberate intention cause of action against hislher employer, pursuant to W. Va. Code 

§§ 23-4-2(b)-(c) (1991), the employer may not assert the employee's contributory negligence as a 

defense to such action." Syi. Pt. 3, Master Mechanical, supra, citing Syi. Pt. 8, Roberts v. 

Consolidation Coal Co., 208 W.Va. 218, 539 S.E.2d 478 (2000) (citations omitted). 

The jury instruction provided by the circuit court is a correct statement of the law on this 

Issue. This Court further noted that "[a]s a result, we decided against the 'adoption, by way of 

implication, of additional defenses sounding in contributory negligence[.]'" Master Mechanical, 

at 232 W. Va. at 586, 753 S.E.2d at 84, quoting Roberts, 208 W.Va. at 236, 539 S.E.2d at 496. 

The pertinent issue under consideration in Master Mechanical was whether the circuit court would 

permit introduction of evidence regarding plaintiffs conduct at the job site where he was injured. 

Master Mechanical, at 585, 587, 753 S.E.2d 83, 85. Petitioner presented significant evidence 

during trial ofMuto's actions attempting to prove that Muto's actions were the cause ofhis injuries. 

In Master Mechanical, this Court began its analysis concerning whether the circuit court should 

preclude evidence of the worker's conduct by noting that "Mr. Simmons not only confuses the 

distinction between liability and causation but he also misapprehends the statutory design of a 

'deliberate intent' action." Id., at 586, 753 S.E.2d at 84. The Court then noted that "[t]hrough his 

attempts to exclude evidence of his actions, Mr. Simmons overlooks the statutorily-specified 

elements of the "deliberate intent" action that clearly invite and, in some instances, may actually 

require a consideration of an employee's actions relevant to the resulting injuries." Id., at 587, 753 

S.E.2d at 85. This Court also recognized that, 

Master Mechanical correctly asserts that this Court's ruling in Roberts with regard 
to the non-availability of the defense of contributory negligence in a "deliberate 
intent" action has no bearing on the elements that are required to be established in 
such a case. Absent successful demonstration of all five of the statutory elements 
provided in West Virginia Code § 23-4-2(d)(2)(ii)(A)-(E), an employee cannot 
recover under a theory of "deliberate intent." 

Id., at 588, 753 S.E.2d at 86. Finally, this Court held that, 

an employer in a 'deliberate intent' action brought pursuant to West Virginia Code 
§ 23-4-2( d)(2)(ii) may introduce evidence that is relevant to the issues of whether 
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an employee's conduct created a specific unsafe working condition; whether the 
employer had actual knowledge of that alleged specific unsafe working condition; 
and whether the injuries at issue were the proximate result of that specific unsafe 
working condition. 

Id, at 581, 753 S.E.2d at 86. The jury instruction provided by the circuit court reflects this ruling 

through acknowledgement that Muto's actions may not be considered by the jury as a defense to 

Petitioner's liability - thus confirming that Muto may not be held contributorily negligent, while 

also acknowledging that Muto's conduct may be considered concerning whether Petitioner had 

actual knowledge of the unsafe working condition and whether Petitioner intentionally exposed to 

said condition. App., 282. A verdict should not be disturbed based on the formulation of the 

language ofthe jury instructions so long as the instructions given as a whole are accurate and fair 

to both parties. Rundle v. Keane, 209 W. Va. 264, 265, 546 S.E.2d 263, 264 (1999) (citations 

omitted). The jury instructions were a correct statement of the law and there was no error, let 

alone an abuse of discretion. See, syl. pt. 6, in part, Tennant v. Marion Health Care Foundation, 

Inc., 194 W.Va. 97,459 S.E.2d 374 (1995) Petitioner's argument that it should be granted a new 

trial due to the jury instructions provided is without merit. 

III. 	 Respondents' Economic Expert Correctly Opined on Mr. Muto's Lost Wages Based 
on Accepted Methodology 

A. 	 Standard ofReview 

This Court has held that "[t]he admissibility of testimony by an expert witness is a matter 

within the sound discretion of the trial court, and the trial court's decision will not be reversed 

unless it is clearly wrong." Doe v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., 210 W. Va. 664, 675, 558 S.E.2d 663, 

674 (2001), citing Syl. pt. 6, Helmick v. Potomac Edison Co., 185 W.Va. 269, 406 S.E.2d 700 

(1991). 

B. 	 Respondents' Expert Economist Correctly Relied upon the Testimony ofMultiple 
Medical Providers Who Confirmed Mr. Muto's Permanent Cognitive Impairment. 

Petitioner argues that Respondents were obligated to call a vocational expert to indicate 

what employment Muto may have been able to perform, in spite of his injuries, thus resulting in 
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Selby's testimony being "purely speculative." Petitioner's Appeal, at p. 32. Initially, it is not the 

job ofRespondents to prove Petitioner's position - that Muto could work again. Petitioner did not 

call a vocational expert at trial, nor offer any evidence concerning what job, if any, that Muto could 

have performed following his traumatic brain injury. Second, Selby never testified that Muto 

could not work following his traumatic brain injury. To the contrary, and on cross-examination 

by Petitioner, Mr. Selby confirmed that his figures contemplated that Muto could potentially work, 

in some other capacity. App., 804:20-23. 

1. 	 Petitioner Has Waived Any Challenge to Selby's Testimony by Failing to 
Properly Object to the Testimony at Trial. 

Prior to trial beginning, the circuit court addressed Petitioner's pending motion in limine 

to preclude Selby from offering testimony related to Muto's future economic damages. App., 

439: 11-15. The circuit court denied Petitioner's motion in limine to preclude Selby from testifying 

about Muto's future economic damages. App.,439:12. There was no objection by Petitioner to 

the circuit court's denial of Petitioner's motion in limine. This Court has previously confirmed 

that "[a]n objection to an adverse ruling on a motion in limine to bar evidence at trial will preserve 

the point, even though no objection was made at the time the evidence was offered, unless there 

has been a significant change in the basis for admitting the evidence." In re JS., 233 W. Va. 394, 

405, 758 S.E.2d 747, 758 (2014), citing Syl. Pt. 1, Wimer v. Hinkle, 180 W.Va. 660, 379 S.E.2d 

383 (1989). Following voir dire of Selby during trial and the Court's admission of Selby as an 

expert in the field of accounting and economic value and loss, Petitioner again did not object to 

the Court's permitting Selby to testify or his qualifications as an expert. App., 786:19-24; 787:1

2. Similarly, neither during nor after Selby's testimony did Petitioner renew its objection to the 

opinions that Petitioner now seeks to address on appeal. Pursuant to this Court's holding in Wimer 

v. Hinkle, supra, Petitioner has waived the right to challenge the testimony on appeal. IS

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